University of Central Florida STARS

Honors Undergraduate Theses

UCF Theses and Dissertations

2020

Effect of Lifting Straps on Peak Force During an Isometric Midthigh Pull

Ethan A. Elkins University of Central Florida

Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/honorstheses University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the UCF Theses and Dissertations at STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Undergraduate Theses by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

Recommended Citation

Elkins, Ethan A., "Effect of Lifting Straps on Peak Force During an Isometric Mid-thigh Pull" (2020). *Honors Undergraduate Theses*. 787. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/honorstheses/787

EFFECT OF LIFTING STRAPS ON PEAK FORCE DURING AN ISOMETRIC MID-THIGH PULL

by

ETHAN ELKINS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Honors in the Major Program in Kinesiology in the College of Health Professions and Sciences and in the Burnett Honors

College at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Summer Term 2020

Thesis Chair: Dr. Michael Redd

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The primary purpose of this study was to examine the difference in peak force (PF) production with and without the inclusion of lifting straps (LS) during an isometric mid-thigh pull (IMTP). An additional goal of this study was to identify potential asymmetry during the two protocols while evaluating the potential use of a dual force plate IMTP as a tool for player monitoring programs. Methods: Twenty-one NCAA division I men (n=10) and women (n=11) soccer players performed a maximal IMTP over dual force plates with and without the assistance of LS. The PF total between the two plates for both conditions was used to examine the effect of LS. Asymmetry was assessed by the PF of the separate force plates by calculation of a symmetry index (SI). **Results**: The PF achieved with the assistance of LS was significantly greater for males (strapped: 2102.3±506.2N, unstrapped: 1468.6±286.0N; p<0.001) and females (strapped: 1105.0±294.7N, unstrapped: 940.6±155.7N; p<0.05). Both males (strapped: 9.2±4.9%, unstrapped: 6.5±5.2%) and females (strapped: 9.0±7.1%, unstrapped: 4.2±4.9%) demonstrated asymmetry, however there was no significant difference in SI between conditions for either sex. Conclusion: The inclusion of LS on the IMTP allowed for a significantly greater PF production for male and female soccer athletes. However, the increase in PF with the inclusion of LS was greater in the males who saw a large effect size (d=1.959, p < 0.001) whereas the effect size seen in the females was moderate (d=0.802, p=0.024). Both male and female soccer players possessed some level of asymmetry that did increase with the inclusion of LS, but no significant difference was found between conditions.

DEDICATION

To my Dad, the kindest man I have ever met, for providing unwavering support and answering any late-night calls with words of wisdom.

To my Mom, the hardest worker I know, who has taught me strength and perseverance. To Tonna, thank you for the mothering I never asked for, but could not live without.

To my Aunt Pammy, thank you for teaching me the hardest, but the most valuable, lesson that I have learned.

To Cynthia, for giving me this chance to succeed. Any success that I may have is a result of the opportunity that you have provided.

Thank you.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I want to express my gratitude to Dr. Michael Redd and Dr. David Fukuda for sharing your time and knowledge. I am eternally grateful for the experience I have gained with your guidance. I would like to thank Dr. Kyle Read for the help that you were able to offer and the moral support that you have provided.

I would also like to thank Laura Justice for your help not only when I was lost during this project, but in my adolescence.

Finally, thanks to the Burnett Honors College for providing this opportunity to me and others.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES vi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION 1
Background1
Purpose
CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE
Needs Analysis of Soccer Athletes
Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Peak Force and Correlation with Measures of Athletic Performance3
Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Reliability and Validity4
Lifting Straps
Prevalence of Asymmetry in Soccer Athletes and Potential Effects on Performance
Asymmetry as a Potential Indicator of Increased Injury Risk6
Isometric Asymmetry as a Player Monitoring Tool7
Potential of the Dual Force Plate Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull as a Player Monitoring Tool 8
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS 10
Subjects 10
Body Composition
Dody composition 10
Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Testing
Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Testing

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. SUBJECT ANTHROPOMETRICS	. 14
TABLE 2. PEAK FORCE WITH AND WITHOUT THE INCLUSION OF LIFTING STRAP	S
FOR MALES AND FEMALES	. 14
TABLE 3. SYMMETRY INDEX WITH AND WITHOUT THE INCLUSION OF LIFTING	
STRAPS FOR MALES AND FEMALES.	. 15
TABLE 4. CORRELATIONS BETWEEN PEAK FORCE, SYMMETRY INDEX, AND	
WEIGHT.	. 16

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Background

The isometric mid-thigh pull (IMTP) is a common evaluation used in scientific literature, mostly in the context of assessment of athletic performance and associated variables. The IMTP is performed with the subject exerting a maximal force against an immovable bar placed in a position correlating to the "second pull" of a power clean at the mid-thigh. This position has been shown to produce the greatest ground force making it the ideal position to measure variables associated with force (Comfort et al. 2011). Due to the involvement of a large amount of the body's musculature recruited during a maximal IMTP, similar to that required during sport, it has become a popular method to assess force production in athletes. The muscles that are recruited during an IMTP require a synchronous full body contraction between muscles of the upper extremities, trunk and muscles of the lower extremities, (DeWeese et al. 2013).

The advantage of assessing force during an isometric contraction compared to an alternative measurement of strength such as a 1 rep max is the increased repeatability and reduced skill involved. An isometric contraction avoids the eccentric portion of a lift which produces a greater amount of muscular damage (Jones et al. 1989, Proske and Morgan 2001). This reduction in muscular damage offers benefits, such as reduced load on athletes pre- or mid-season. In addition, due to the lack of movement during the contraction less coordination is required. It is possible that this may be a safer option to novice athletes compared to the dynamic counterpart, the second pull of a power clean, which requires more technical ability.

Purpose

Currently the protocols used in the methods of studies involving the IMTP are mixed with some including the ergogenic aid of lifting straps (LS) and others excluding them. The purpose of lifting straps is to reduce the involvement of grip strength during weightlifting movements, such as the deadlift or power clean. Due to the dependency on hand grip during a maximal IMTP there is a potential that the exclusion of LS would result in a decreased ability to achieve a peak force (PF). Depending on the goal of the study measuring IMTP without the assistance of LS and thus the limiting factor of hand grip could be a detriment to data collection. Without the inclusion of LS, the data may more closely represent the subject's grip strength rather than their full body strength. Thus, the primary goal of this study is to look at differences in PF of athletes performing an IMTP with lifting straps (LS) (IMTP-S) and with no LS (IMTP-NS).

Additionally, the IMTP device used in this study offers a novel testing parameter by using separate force plates to measure the force produced by the individual legs as well as having increased portability. By analyzing the difference in PF acting upon the separate force plates it becomes possible to identification potential unilateral asymmetries in strength. These asymmetries may be present in athletes that repeatedly experience unilateral forces associated with sports, such as soccer. At present there are mixed findings on the level of asymmetry present in soccer athletes suggesting a further need for exploration. Previous studies have successfully used a similar dual force plate IMTP to assess asymmetry amongst athletes. Therefore, the secondary goal of this study is to examine potential asymmetry in participating NCAA Division-I soccer athletes.

CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Needs Analysis of Soccer Athletes

Success in soccer is largely dependent on the athlete's aerobic and anaerobic ability. Aerobic capacity is demonstrated by the distance covered by soccer players during a match is typically around 10km, depending on the position of the player (Bangsbo et al. 2006). Anaerobic performance is demonstrated by the more explosive movements during play, such as accelerating, sprinting, kicking, and jumping. For example, soccer players perform short sprints every 90s during a match which typically last 2-4s and covers an average of 10-15m (Bangsbo et al. 1991, Mohr et al. 2005). When comparing high level soccer athletes with lower level athletes a contrast in anaerobic activities during match play can be seen. Mohr et al. (2003) reported that international players perform 28% more high intensity running and 58% more sprinting than professional players of a lower standard. The performance during these sprints can be attributed by the athlete's ability to produce a force. Due to the short time and distances covered by these sprints, most anaerobic actions are spent in the acceleration phase rather than at maximal velocity. In fact, soccer players perform eight times more maximal accelerations than sprints per game (65±21 vs. 8±5 respectively) (Varley and Aughey, 2013). This acceleration both the player and ball during game play is determined by the ability to impart a force on an object (a=F/m).

Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Peak Force and Correlation with Measures of Athletic Performance

Thus, peak force (PF) is an important variable in understanding success in sports, such as soccer. Evidence for this has been shown by previous studies showing that the PF achieved during a IMTP are significantly related with sprint time, change of direction, agility, reactive strength,

and vertical jump, (Beckham et al. 2014, Thomas et al. (2015, 2017), Townsend et al. 2019, Wang et al. 2016). Further correlations with IMTP PF, have been found in measures of dynamic strength such as 1 rep max back squat, front squat, bench press, hang clean, power clean, and 2RM split jerk. (McGuigan et al.2008, Wang et al. 2016). Additionally, IMTP PF has even been shown to correlate with sport-specific measures of performance such as club head velocity and sprint cycling time (Wells et al. 2018, Stone et al. 2004).

Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Reliability and Validity

The IMTP has been shown to not only have a significant correlation with measures of dynamic performance, but it has also been proven to have a high degree of validity and reliability. Previous studies have determined that the IMTP possesses a significant reliability and acceptable validity for IMTP PF both within and between sessions (James et al. 2017, De Witt et al. 2018, Dos' Santos et al. 2017, Guppy et al. 2018). The high degree of correlation with measures of athletic ability and the high degree of validity and makes the IMTP an excellent tool in scientific literature and potential for player monitoring.

Lifting Straps

Although there is a large amount of literature involving the IMTP the methodology between studies is inconsistent. Between studies there is a varied measure of knee and trunk angle used as well as a mixed inclusion of lifting straps (LS). This inconsistency between procedures has been partially explore by Comfort et al. (2019). In this study the effect of different knee and trunk angles during an IMTP was measured and no significant differences in among kinetic variables was found. However, there is currently no literature assessing potential differences during an IMTP

with LS (IMTP-S) and without LS (IMTP-NS). A LS is an ergogenic aide used during resistance training that uses a strap attached to the wrists of an athlete and then wrapped around a barbell. The inclusion of a LS allows the "force to be transferred to the wrist of the user with the result that no gripping of the equipment by the hand of the user is necessary (U.S. Patent No. 6,168,556, 2001)." This assures that the limiting factor in the lift is not due to grip strength. Protocols in previous studies have been varied with the use of IMTP-S or IMTP-NS. Although there are no studies directly measuring LS effects during an IMTP, there has been research on the differences seen during resistance training. In a study by Coswig et al. (2015) the use of LS during a deadlift allowed for an increase of 20-28% in force favoring LS. Cowan and DeBeliso (2017) had similar findings investigating the power clean showing the 1RM power clean with the use of LS was 79.0±18.4 kg while the 1RM without LS was 72.7±15.9. However, the peak vertical ground reaction force during the submaximal testing slightly favored the lift without LS (without LS: 2004.0±443.7 N, with LS:1953.3±450.7 N). In addition, Jukic et al. (2020) showed no significant differences between a submaximal deadlift with and without the use of LS for mean velocity, peak velocity, mean power, and peak power. Due to the lack of knowledge on the effect of LS on IMTP it would be beneficial to explore the potential differences between IMTP-S and IMTP-NS.

Prevalence of Asymmetry in Soccer Athletes and Potential Effects on Performance

It has been hypothesized that the repeated exposures to asymmetrical forces experienced during unilateral based sports, such as soccer, can lead to the development of potential asymmetry. Thus, the identification of asymmetry may be of particular use to soccer athletes. However, the presence of asymmetry amongst soccer athletes in previous research has been inconsistent. The findings of Chin et al. (1994), Erun et al. (2004), Masuda et al. (2005), and McLean and Tumility,

(1993) revealed some level of asymmetry while Capranica et al. (1992), Rochongar et al. (1988), and Zakas, (2006) discovered no significant asymmetry. This suggests that the presence of asymmetry amongst soccer athletes needs to be examined further.

The effects of asymmetry on athletic performance has also been conflicting. Studies by Sannicandro et al. (2011), Bailey et al. (2015), and Bell et al. (2014) have found a relationship between asymmetry and reduced ability in athletic performance. However, many studies have found no correlation with athletic performance (Chiang, Lockie et al 2014, Exxel et al. 2017, Meyers et al. 2017, Haugen et al. 2018, Lockie et al. 2017). In fact, Lockie et al. (2012) found that faster athletes demonstrated a greater asymmetry in concentric knee extension at 180°/s and 240°/s but had less asymmetry in eccentric strength in knee flexion. It is possible that moderate asymmetries may develop as an adaption to the unilateral demands of various sports with no resulting detriment to performance.

Asymmetry as a Potential Indicator of Increased Injury Risk

Previous research has revealed correlations with strength asymmetry and potential risk of injury. Dauty et al. (2016) found that an indicator of hamstring injury was concentric hamstring-hamstring ratio at 60° which showed a prediction probability of 34% when athletes had a strength ratio lower than 0.85. Knapik et al. (1991) found that the athletes with knee flexion that was $\geq 15\%$ stronger in the right leg were 2.6 times as likely to sustain injury. Fousekis et al. (2010) found that professional soccer players with eccentric hamstring strength asymmetries (odds ratio [OR]=3.88; 95% CI 1.13 to 13.23), functional leg length asymmetries (OR=3.80; 95% CI 1.08 to 13.33) and no previous hamstrings injuries (OR=0.15; 95% CI 0.029 to 0.79) were at greater risk of sustaining a hamstring muscle strain. Additionally, Fousekis et al. (2011) found that players with eccentric

hamstring strength asymmetries (OR=3.88; 95% CI 1.13 to 13.23), functional leg length asymmetries (OR=3.80; 95% CI 1.08 to 13.33) and no previous hamstrings injuries (OR=0.15; 95% CI 0.029 to 0.79) were at greater risk of sustaining a hamstring muscle strain and that players with eccentric strength (OR=5.01; 95% CI 0.92 to 27.14) and flexibility asymmetries (OR=4.98; 95% CI 0.78 to 31.80) in their quadriceps were more likely to sustain a strain in this muscle group. Furthermore, Fousekis et al. (2012) found that professional soccer players with eccentric isokinetic ankle flexion strength asymmetries (OR = 8.88; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.95-40.36, P =.005) were more at risk of sustaining noncontact ankle sprains during season. These findings provide support for asymmetry as a predictor of injury. This relationship suggests that monitoring asymmetry in athletes could provide useful insight in the prevention of injuries.

Isometric Asymmetry as a Player Monitoring Tool

A relative finding for the case for isometric strength asymmetry as an in-season player monitoring tool was made by Schache et al. (2010). In this case study an Australian rules football player with a history of right hamstring strains was followed through a season. Weekly assessment of isometric hamstring asymmetry was measured. In the 5th week a 10.9% asymmetry was found which was followed by a hamstring injury 5 days after. Minimal asymmetry was found in the 4 weeks prior (no greater than $\pm 1.2\%$). The authors of this study speculate that the change in asymmetry leading to the injury was the result of subtle damage or inhibition within the hamstring muscle. This may reveal that a potential cause of acute asymmetry is due to muscular damage or inhibition in addition to the separate unilateral adaptation that may develop in athletes. In addition, Wollin et al. (2018) was able to successfully measure maximal isometric contractions during a hamstring dynamometer in response to a period of congested match play (two matches within three

days). The findings revealed a significant decrease in hamstring strength amongst some of the individual youth Australian football athletes suggesting incomplete recovery. The possibility to safely collect individual data pertaining to recovery and injury risk during a season could be a valuable tool for athletics and requires more study.

Potential of the Dual Force Plate Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull as a Player Monitoring Tool

Previous studies have proved the efficacy of using a dual force plate IMTP device to assess asymmetry (Owens 2011, Bailey et al. 2013, Gleason 2015). A varying degree of asymmetry was found amongst the athletes measured in all three studies. Owens (2011) was able to identify that subjects (40 males and 26 females) possessed a mean percent difference of 7.2 ± 5.9 . Additionally, the asymmetry evaluation was able to reveal 6 subjects (5 men and 1 woman) who exhibited a \geq 15% asymmetry, a value previously associated with increased risk of injury (Knapik et al. 1991). Bailey et al. (2013) reported that the PF-SI was 6.6 % \pm 5.1 amongst their subjects (n=36 males). In contrast to other findings, it was found that force production asymmetry had a significant, but moderate negative association with jump variables in a squat jump (r=-0.34 to -0.52) and a countermovement jump (r=-0.28 to -0.49). Gleason (2015) found that in their study on there was no significant relationship found between symmetry and 505 agility test times with right and left foot plants and little correlation with left or right-foot forward 10m sprint starts, but did find a large correlation (r=0.55, p < 0.021) the symmetry index(SI) at 150ms and 10m sprint time asymmetry.

An additional feature of the study by Gleason (2015) was the use of the dual force plate IMTP in a player monitoring program over the course of a year. Subjects were twenty-five male and twenty-eight female Division- I NCAA athletes who completed at least three testing sessions over a year. The results of these sessions revealed that intra-session PF values (4.12 \pm 1.57%) as well as the interclass correlation coefficients of PF for left (0.84) and right (0.89) legs showing that the PF data collected had a good reliability. The interclass correlation coefficient for SI was 0.52 denoting a moderate level of reliability. The mean SI range between the three sessions was 16.04 \pm 10.72 showing a considerable degree of variability (with respect to the previously proposed \geq 15% threshold). These results suggest that presence of asymmetry among athletes over a year in training is varied. However, the author speculated that the variability could be the result of acute fluctuations due to muscular damage, cumulative fatigue, etc. While the use of the dual force plate IMTP for assessing asymmetry during a maximal effort trial seems promising the moderate reliability and considerable degree of variability between sessions suggests that more study is needed to explore the potential of a dual force plate IMTP.

Previous research has shown the potential correlation between asymmetry and injury risk, the safety of maximal isometric testing for in season athletes, and the possibility for acute asymmetries to predict injury. The benefit of using the dual force plate IMTP to assess asymmetry is the time efficient assessment of full body muscular strength as well as the portability of the design allowing for testing to be performed in the weight room, athletics training room, or on the field. Due to the potential of the dual force plate IMTP discussed previously as well as the conflicting findings regarding asymmetry in soccer athletes, an additional goal of this study is to assess the potential presence of asymmetry in NCAA Division-I soccer athletes as well as explore the ability of the dual force plate IMTP as a player monitoring tool by evaluating the use of the particular IMTP device in a collegiate weight room setting.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Evaluation consisted of three sessions including two testing sessions. On the initial day, prior to the testing sessions, subjects signed an informed consent, completed a Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q), performed body composition and anthropometrics assessments and completed a familiarization session with the IMTP protocol and exercise technique to be used during testing. The study was approved by the University's Institutional Review Board.

Subjects

Twenty-one NCAA division I men (n=10, 20.54 ± 1.72 years, 171.57 ± 5.77 cm, and 72.94 ± 9.62 kg) and women (n= 11, 19.5 ± 1.43 years, 164.34 ± 6.63 cm, and 62.87 ± 7.24 kg), college soccer players, (See Table 1.) volunteered to participate in this investigation. All components of the testing procedures were explained to each participant, and informed consent was received before the initial testing session. To eliminate the potential of fatigue-related performance decrements, participants were asked to refrain from any strenuous physical activity for the previous 48 hours.

Body Composition

Height and body mass (BM) were measured with a calibrated standard medical scale (439 Physician Scale; Detecto, Webb City, MO, USA). Body composition was measured using a multifrequency bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) device (InBody 770, Cerritos, CA, USA) that transmits a minute electrical current to be conducted through the body to determine body composition variables, including body fat percentage. Before the testing sessions, participants were asked to be sufficiently hydrated and to have abstained from food consumption or exercise for a minimum of two hours. Participants removed their footwear, including socks, and stood on the BIA scale while holding two handles out to the side, for approximately 45 seconds. All BIA and anthropometric measurements were recorded for each subject on the initial day of testing.

Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Testing

Before the initial day of testing a series of three familiarization trials under both conditions were performed to ensure proper technique for the exercise for the remainder of the study. The testing sessions were conducted on two different days separated by a minimum of 48 hours. The IMTP protocol to be used on the first testing day was determined at random using a coin toss, "heads" would be IMTP-S on day 1 and "tails" IMTP-NS on day 1. The athlete would then use the remaining protocol on the second day of testing. During the testing sessions, subjects performed three maximal IMTP attempts with the determined protocol, each attempt was followed by three minutes of rest before the next attempt was completed.

The mid-thigh pull position was determined for each participant before his or her first attempt. Participants were instructed to position themselves on the portable IMTP rack and force plate system in their preferred deadlift stance. Bar placement height was selected by placing the bar at the midpoint distance between the knee and hip joint resulting in hip and knee angles of $127.6 \pm 8.8^{\circ}$ and $132.5 \pm 13.4^{\circ}$ respectively. Participants were instructed to use a pronated grip, regardless of condition (with or without LS), for all the attempts. Bar height from the force plates, for each participant was recorded to ensure consistency between testing sessions. All testing sessions were conducted by the same investigator, providing the same instructions, under similar conditions for all participants.

For each IMTP attempt, all participants were instructed to stand on the force plates, address the bar with proper grip and stance (maintaining a neutral spine throughout), place slight upward tension on the bar and prepare to lift on the command of "pull." Participants were instructed to pull vertically on the bar and reach their maximal effort within the first two seconds and to maintain that effort until given the command "done" (pull effort lasted approximately 6 seconds). These commands were consistent for all participants throughout all testing sessions and were given to avoid any jerking or pre-contraction that may occur. For each session, three maximal attempts were performed by each subject, separated by 3 minutes of passive rest between attempts.

The IMTP rack and force plate system were a custom designed frame made of square tubular steel (7.5x5cm). The design consisted of two vertical bars attached to a rectangular base (50x100cm) of the same steel framing and utilized a standard diameter Olympic bar with the collar and sleeves cut off. The vertical bars had holes (3.5cm diameter) spaced 6.5cm apart to allow for multiple bar height adjustments. The base of the device had a steel plate on one face that could be used as a platform to adjust the height of the bar, if necessary while accommodating two portable force plates (37 cm \times 37 cm; PASCO, Pasport PS-2142, Roseville, USA) regardless of the side used.

The force plates were used to record the PF for each trial during all testing sessions. Each two-axis portable force platform collected data at a sample rate of 1,000 Hz using five force beams: four corner beams to measure the normal force (ranging from -1,100 N to +4,400 N) and a fifth beam to measure the parallel force (ranging from -1,100 N to +1,100 N).

Statistical Analysis

The PF with LS (PF-S) and without LS (PF-NS) was defined as the highest force achieved during the 6 seconds isometric test without the participant's body weight in Newtons. Body weight was calculated as the average force exerted by the subject's body mass while standing on the platform without their hands off of the bar. Additionally, the forces acting upon the separate force plates at the time the subject achieved a total PF was recorded as PF 1 and PF 2. The level of asymmetry was determined by calculating the symmetry index (SI).

$$SI = [PF 1 - PF 2]/total PF*100$$
(1)

The equation 1 was used to calculate the SI for trials with LS (SI-S) and without LS (SI-NS). The descriptive data is presented as mean and standard deviation. A paired t-test was used to determine statistical difference between PF-S and PF-NS as well as SI-S and SI-NS. Cohen's d value effect size was calculated to show practical significance, and was interpreted as follows: trivial (< 0.19), small (0.20 - 0.59), moderate (0.60 - 1.19), large (1.20 - 1.99), and very large (2.0 - 4.0) (Hopkins 2000). Additionally, Pearson correlation coefficients were determined to assess the level of relationship between variables. The interpretation of relationships was as follows: greater than 0.5 is considered large, 0.3-0.5 is moderate, 0.1-0.3 is small, and less than 0.1 is trivial (Hopkins 2000). Statistical analysis was performed using Microsoft Excel and JASP (Version 0.13.1)[Computer software].

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

The anthropometrics of the subjects is displayed in Table 1. The mean PF-S and PF-NS can be observed in Table 2. Both males and females were able to achieve a significantly greater PF-S. However, the relative increase between PF-S and PF-NS was greater in the males. The inclusion of LS had a large effect size (d=1.959, p<0.001) whereas the effect size seen in the females was moderate (d=0.802, p=0.024).

Table 1. Subject anthropometrics.

	Age (years)	Body Fat (%)	Body Mass (kg)	Height (cm)
Male (n=10)	20.54 ± 1.7	12.57 ± 2.58	72.94 ± 9.62	171.57 ± 5.77
Female (n=11)	19.5 ± 1.43	19.57 ± 4.9	62.87 ± 7.2	164.34 ± 6.63

Table 2. Peak force with and without the inclusion of lifting straps for males and females

	PF-S (N)	PF-NS (N)	Cohen's d
Male	2102.3±506.2	1468.6±286.0***	1.959
Female	1105.0±294.7	940.6±155.7*	0.802

* p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.001

	SI-S	SI-NS	
Male	9.2±4.9%	6.5±5.2%	
Female	9.0±7.1%	4.2 <u>+</u> 4.9%	
* p<0.05, **p<0.005	, ***p<0.001		

Table 3. Symmetry index with and without the inclusion of lifting straps for males and females.

As seen in Table 3. both males and females possessed some level of asymmetry among both conditions. However, the difference between SI-S and SI-NS was not proven to be significant for males or females. The SI-NS showed one male athlete with an asymmetry greater than 15% while the SI-NS revealed an additional male and female possessing a \geq 15% asymmetry. Table 4. shows the correlations between the PF, SI, and weight. The males showed a significant relationships in the large range between PF-S and PF-NS (r=0.806, p=0.005), PF-NS and SI-S (r=0.678, p=0.031), and PF-NS and weight (r=0.782, p=0.008) and the females showed a large significant correlation between PF-S and PF-NS (r=0.752, p=0.008). No other relationships were deemed significant.

	PF-S	PF-NS	SI-S	SI-NS	Weight
Male					
PF-S	-				
PF-NS	0.806*	-			
SI-S	0.239	0.678*	-		
SI-NS	0.092	0.134	0.460	-	
Weight	0.609	0.782**	0.561	-0.266	-
Female					
PF-S	-				
PF-NS	0.752*	-			
SI-S	-0.080	-0.211	-		
SI-NS	0.193	-0.173	-0.072	-	
Weight	0.016	0.125	-0.413	-0.130	-

Table 4. Correlations between peak force, symmetry index, and weight.

* p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.001

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

Lifting Straps Effect on Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Peak Force

The primary goal of this study was to determine the difference in PF with and without the use of LS. It was hypothesized that the use of LS would increase the PF that the athletes were able to achieve during the IMTP. The difference in PF between the LS and non-LS groups may suggest that the limiting factor in force production may have been due to a relative deficit in grip strength. These results were similar to the findings of Coswig et al. (2015) who showed a 20-28% increase in force during a submaximal deadlift using LS, and Cowan and DeBeliso (2017) who found that subjects were able to achieve a greater power clean 1RM with the inclusion of LS (79.0 \pm 18.4kg vs. 72.7 \pm 15.9kg).

The findings of this study show that grip strength is likely a limiting factor during maximal effort testing such as the IMTP-NS. This could potentially explain the difference in findings during submaximal testing like that performed by Jukic et al. (2020), who found no difference in PF during a submaximal deadlift, and Cowan and DeBeliso (2017), who found that the PF achieved during a submaximal power clean without LS (2004.0±443.7 N) was greater than with LS (1953.3±450.7 N). Although grip strength can be an excellent predictor of old age disability and nutritional status, there are already reliable testing methods to assess hand strength such as the Dexter and Jamar evaluations (Norman et al. 2011, Rantanen et al. 1999, Bellace et al. 2000). The findings of this study suggest that due to the limiting factor an IMTP-NS may more closely represent the subject's grip strength rather than the full body strength expressed during an IMTP-S.

Considerations for Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Methodology Involving Lifting Straps

In the future, researchers and practitioners may consider which protocol will allow for a more specific measurement of force production in context to the demands of the athlete's sport. Relevant to the population used in this study, during an analysis of the biomechanics and demands during a soccer match by Lees and Nolan (1998) there is no mention of the need for grip strength. Conversely, as previously discussed, PF has been shown to correlate with many factors that are involved with athletic performance. Thus, when testing soccer athletes, it may be flawed to impose a limitation on their ability to produce a PF that they will not be exposed to during their sport. This would suggest that IMTP-S may offer a more valuable evaluation for these athletes. For future use of an IMTP as a performance measure or assessment, it may be more relevant to have athletes who are not dependent on grip strength to perform the test with the use of LS. However, future study may be needed to quantify the difference of IMTP-S and IMTP-NS in reference to tests of athletic performance (jump performance, sprint time, etc.) to determine which protocol allows for the most accurate data collection in athletes. In reference to previous research, it is possible that correlations established with PF-S and PF-NS may be extrapolated to the counterpart due to the large relationship found between PF-S and PF-NS in this study (males: r=0.806, p=0.005; females: r=0.752, p=0.008). However, the relationship between PF-S and PF-NS was not perfect meaning the same level of confidence cannot be used.

Evaluation of Asymmetry

The additional feature of the dual force plates in the IMTP device allowed for the observation of asymmetry in the population tested. The symmetry index of both strapped (Male: $9.2\pm4.9\%$; Female: $9.0\pm7.1\%$) and unstrapped (Male: $6.5\pm5.2\%$; Female: $4.2\pm4.5\%$) trials showed

some level of asymmetry. These results agree with the finding of Chin et al. (1994), Erun et al. (2004), Masuda et al. (2005), and McLean and Tumility, (1993) who observed the presence of asymmetry in soccer athletes. During the IMTP-NS one male athlete was observed that demonstrated a SI of \geq 15% (this athlete also scored over \geq 15% during the IMTP-S). However, the IMTP-S resulted in two additional athletes (one male and one female) with a \geq 15% asymmetry that were not seen with during the IMTP-NS. This value of asymmetry has previously been found to be an indicator of increased risk of injury (Knapik et al. 1991). Although, the sample size was small the IMTP-S may allow for greater identification of athletes that possess the level of asymmetry associated with increased injury.

Inclusion in a Player Monitoring Program and Future Research

The efficacy of the portable dual force plate IMTP as a means for player monitoring appears to be promising. The testing was able to be performed in the weight room in a time effective manner without the occurrence of any complications. Incorporating the dual force plate IMTP into a player monitoring program would allow for the coaching and athletic training staff to compile data over the course of a season to aid in practice and game decisions as well as provide insight for personalized resistance training programs. The previous literature has indicated that chronic and acute asymmetry may predict injury suggesting that it would be advantageous to include regularly scheduled data collection to ensure that factors associated with an increased risk of injury are detected (Dauty et al. 2016, Knapik et al. 1991, Fousekis et al. 2010, Fousekis et al. 2011, Fousekis et al. 2012, Schache et al. 2010). It may be advantageous for future studies to develop a method to distinguish between functional asymmetry, such as that shown in some studies on unilateral athletes, and asymmetry that develops as a result of subtle damage or inhibition within the muscle,

like that discussed by Schache et al. (2010). Additionally, the results presented by Gleason (2015) suggest that further research involving in-season monitoring of an athletic population is necessary to determine a normal threshold for asymmetry variability and a threshold that may be indicative of overtraining, injury, etc. Gleason (2015) suggested that a potential explanation of their findings was due to acute fluctuations in asymmetry due to factors related to sport and training. Therefore, it would be advantageous of such a study to include reference to influencing factors such as training load, game play, practice, etc.

CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSIONS

The use of LS during an IMTP allowed the athletes to produce a significantly greater force than without LS suggesting grip strength as a potential limiting factor. Given the advantages of the IMTP to assess force production through a full body multi-joint contraction and the nature of studies using IMTP it may be advantageous to future researchers to consider the sport specific needs of the population being studied when deciding the IMTP protocol. The results of the SI-S and SI-U both show that it is likely that some level of asymmetry is present in the soccer athletes who participated in this study. Additionally, the ability to perform the data collection in the weight room of a collegiate weight room provides support for potential use in future player monitoring programs.

REFERENCES

- Bailey, C., Sato, K., Alexander, R., Chiang, C. Y., & Stone, M. H. (2013). Isometric Force Production Symmetry and Jumping Performance in Collegiate Athletes. Journal of Trainology, 2(1), 1-5.
- Bailey, C. A., Sato, K., Burnett, A., & Stone, M. H. (2015). Force-Production Asymmetry in Male and Female Athletes of Differing Strength Levels. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 10(4), 504-508.
- Bangsbo, J., Mohr, M., & Krustrup, P. (2006). Physical and Metabolic Demands of Training and Match-Play in the Elite Football Player. Journal of Sports Sciences, 24(07), 665-674.
- Bangsbo, J., Nørregaard, L., & Thorsoe, F. (1991). Activity Profile of Competition Soccer. Canadian Journal of Sport Sciences, 16(2), 110-116.
- Beckham, G. K., Suchomel, T. J., Bailey, C. A., Sole, C. J., & Grazer, J. L. (2014). The Relationship of the Reactive Strength Index-Modified and Measures of Force Development in the Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull. In ISBS-Conference Proceedings Archive.
- Bell, D. R., Sanfilippo, J. L., Binkley, N., & Heiderscheit, B. C. (2014). Lean Mass Asymmetry Influences Force and Power Asymmetry During Jumping in Collegiate Athletes. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research/National Strength & Conditioning Association, 28(4), 884-891.
- Bellace, J. V., Healy, D., Besser, M. P., Byron, T., & Hohman, L. (2000). Validity of the Dexter Evaluation System's Jamar Dynamometer Attachment for Assessment of Hand Grip Strength in a Normal Population. Journal of Hand Therapy, 13(1), 46-51.

- Capranica, L., Cama, G., Fanton, F., Tessitore, A., & Figura, F. (1992). Force and Power of Preferred and Non-Preferred Leg in Young Soccer Players. The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness, 32(4), 358-363.
- Chiang, Chieh-Ying, "Lower Body Strength and Power Characteristics Influencing Change of Direction and Straight-Line Sprinting Performance in Division I Soccer Players: An Exploratory Study" (2014). [Doctoral Dissertation, East Tennessee State University].
 Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Paper 2406. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/2406
- Chin, M. K., So, R. C., Yuan, Y. W., Li, R. C., & Wong, A. S. (1994). Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Isokinetic Muscle Strength of Elite Asian Junior Soccer Players. The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness, 34(3), 250-257.
- Comfort, P., Allen, M., & Graham-Smith, P. (2011). Comparisons of Peak Ground Reaction Force and Rate of Force Development During Variations of the Power Clean. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 25, 1235-239
- Comfort, P., Dos' Santos, T., Beckham, G. K., Stone, M. H., Guppy, S. N., & Haff, G. G. (2019). Standardization and Methodological Considerations for the Isometric Midthigh pull. Strength & Conditioning Journal, 41(2), 57-79.
- Coswig, V. S., Freitas, D. F. M., Gentil, P., Fukuda, D. H., & Del Vecchio, F. B. (2015).Kinematics and Kinetics of Multiple Sets Using Lifting Straps During Deadlift Training.The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 29(12), 3399-3404.
- Dauty, M., Menu, P., Fouasson-Chailloux, A., Ferréol, S., & Dubois, C. (2016). Prediction of Hamstring Injury in Professional Soccer Players by Isokinetic Measurements. Muscles, Ligaments and Tendons Journal, 6(1), 116-123.

- DeWeese, B. H., Serrano, A. J., Scruggs, S. K., & Burton, J. D. (2013). The Midthigh Pull: Proper Application and Progressions of a Weightlifting Movement Derivative. Strength & Conditioning Journal, 35(6), 54-58.
- De Witt, J. K., English, K. L., Crowell, J. B., Kalogera, K. L., Guilliams, M. E., Nieschwitz, B. E.,
 ... & Ploutz-Snyder, L. L. (2018). Isometric Midthigh Pull Reliability and Relationship to
 Deadlift One Repetition Maximum. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research,
 32(2), 528-533.
- Dos'Santos, T., Thomas, C., Comfort, P., McMahon, J. J., & Jones, P. A. (2017). Relationships Between Isometric Force-Time Characteristics and Dynamic Performance. Sports, 5(3), 68.
- Ergün, M., Işlegen, C., & Taşkıran, E. (2004). A Cross-Sectional Analysis of Sagittal Knee Laxity and Isokinetic Muscle Strength in Soccer Players. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 25(08), 594-598.
- Exell, T., Irwin, G., Gittoes, M., & Kerwin, D. (2017). Strength and Performance Asymmetry During Maximal Velocity Sprint Running. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 27(11), 1273-1282.
- Fousekis, K., Tsepis, E., & Vagenas, G. (2010). Lower Limb Strength in Professional Soccer Players: Profile, Asymmetry, and Training Age. Journal of Sports Science & Medicine, 9(3), 364-373.
- Fousekis, K., Tsepis, E., Poulmedis, P., Athanasopoulos, S., & Vagenas, G. (2011). Intrinsic Risk Factors of Non-Contact Quadriceps and Hamstring Strains in Soccer: A Prospective Study of 100 Professional Players. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 45(9), 709-714.

- Fousekis, K., Tsepis, E., & Vagenas, G. (2012). Intrinsic Risk Factors of Noncontact Ankle Sprains in Soccer: A Prospective Study on 100 Professional Players. The American Journal of Sports Medicine, 40(8), 1842-1850.
- Gleason, Benjamin H., "Stability of Isometric Strength Asymmetry and Its Relationship to Sprint and Change-of-Direction Performance Asymmetry in Division-I Collegiate Athletes" (2015). [Doctoral Dissertation, East Tennessee State University]. Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Paper 2550. <u>https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/2550</u>
- Guppy SN, Brady CJ, Comfort P, and Haff GG. (2018). The Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull: A Review& Methodology Part 1. Professional Strength & Conditioning, 51, 13-19
- Haugen, T., Danielsen, J., McGhie, D., Sandbakk, Ø., & Ettema, G. (2018). Kinematic Stride Cycle FAsymmetry is not Associated with Sprint Performance and Injury Prevalence in Athletic Sprinters. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 28(3), 1001-1008.
- Hopkins, W. G. (2000). A New View of Statistics. Internet Society for Sport Science: http://www.sportsci.org/resource/stats/.
- James, L. P., Roberts, L. A., Haff, G. G., Kelly, V. G., & Beckman, E. M. (2017). Validity and Reliability of a Portable Isometric Mid-Thigh Clean Pull. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 31(5), 1378-1386.
- Jerry Cowan, Mark DeBeliso, The Effects of Lifting Straps on Force Applied During the Power Clean, International Journal of Sports Science, Vol. 7 No. 5, 2017, pp. 184-190.
- Jones, D. A., Newham, D. J., & Torgan, C. (1989). Mechanical Influences on Long-Lasting Human Muscle Fatigue and Delayed-Onset Pain. The Journal of Physiology, 412(1), 415-427.

- Jukic, I., García-Ramos, A., Malecek, J., Omcirk, D., & Tufano, J. J. (2020). Magnitude and Reliability of Velocity and Power Variables During Deadlifts Performed With and Without Lifting Straps. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research. Advance online publication.
- Knapik, J. J., Bauman, C. L., Jones, B. H., Harris, J. M., & Vaughan, L. (1991). Preseason Strength and Flexibility Imbalances Associated with Athletic Injuries in Female Collegiate Athletes. The American Journal of Sports Medicine, 19(1), 76-81.
- Lees, A., & Nolan, L. (1998). The Biomechanics of Soccer: a Review. Journal of Sports Sciences, 16(3), 211-234.
- Lockie, R. G., Callaghan, S. J., Berry, S. P., Cooke, E. R., Jordan, C. A., Luczo, T. M., & Jeffriess,
 M. D. (2014). Relationship Between Unilateral Jumping Ability and Asymmetry on
 Multidirectional Speed in Team-Sport Athletes. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning
 Research, 28(12), 3557-3566.
- Lockie, R. G., Risso, F. G., Lazar, A., Giuliano, D. V., Stage, A. A., Liu, T. M., ... & Birmingham-Babauta, S. A. (2017). Between-Leg Mechanical Differences as Measured by the Bulgarian Split-Squat: Exploring Asymmetries and Relationships with Sprint Acceleration. Sports, 5(3), 65.
- Lockie, R. G., Schultz, A. B., Jeffriess, M. D., & Callaghan, S. J. (2012). The Relationship Between Bilateral Differences of Knee Flexor and Extensor Isokinetic Strength and Multi-Directional Speed. Isokinetics and Exercise Science, 20(3), 211-219.
- Masuda, K., Kikuhara, N., Demura, S., Katsuta, S., & Yamanaka, K. (2005). Relationship Between Muscle Strength in Various Isokinetic Movements and Kick Performance among Soccer Players. Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness, 45(1), 44-52.

- McGuigan, M. R., & Winchester, J. B. (2008). The Relationship Between Isometric and Dynamic Strength in College Football Players. Journal of Sports Science & Medicine, 7(1), 101-105.
- McLean, B. D., & Tumilty, D. M. (1993). Left-Right Asymmetry in Two Types of Soccer Kick. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 27(4), 260-262.
- Meyers, R. W., Oliver, J. L., Hughes, M. G., Lloyd, R. S., & Cronin, J. B. (2017). Asymmetry during Maximal Sprint Performance in 11-to 16-Year-Old Boys. Pediatric Exercise Science, 29(1), 94-102.
- Mohr, M., Krustrup, P. and Bangsbo, J. 2003. Match Performance of High-Standard Soccer
 Players with Special Reference to Development of Fatigue. Journal of Sports Sciences, 21:
 439–449.
- Mohr, M., Krustrup, P. and Bangsbo, J. 2005. Fatigue in soccer: A brief review. Journal of Sports Sciences, 23: 593–599.
- Norman, K., Stobäus, N., Gonzalez, M. C., Schulzke, J. D., & Pirlich, M. (2011). Hand Grip Strength: Outcome Predictor and Marker of Nutritional Status. Clinical Nutrition, 30(2), 135-142.
- Owens, Ethan Monroe, "Use of Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull to Determine Asymmetrical Strength Differences in NCAA D-I Athletes." (2011). [Master's Thesis, East Tennessee State University]. Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Paper 1370. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/1370
- Proske, U., & Morgan, D. L. (2001). Muscle Damage from Eccentric Exercise: Mechanism, Mechanical Signs, Adaptation and Clinical Applications. The Journal of Physiology, 537(2), 333-345.
- Rantanen, T., Guralnik, J. M., Foley, D., Masaki, K., Leveille, S., Curb, J. D., & White, L. (1999). Midlife Hand Grip Strength as a Predictor of Old Age Disability. JAMA, 281(6), 558-560.

- Rochcongar, P., Morvan, R., Jan, J., Dassonville, J., & Beillot, J. (1988). Isokinetic Investigation of Knee Extensors and Knee Flexors in Young French Soccer Players. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 9(06), 448-450.
- Schache, Anthony G., Crossley, Kay M., Macindoe, Ian G., Fahrner, Brendan B. and Pandy,
 Marcus G. (2011). Can a Clinical Test of Hamstring Strength Identify Football Players at
 Risk of Hamstring Strain? Knee Surgery Sports Traumatology Arthroscopy 19 (1) 38-41.
- Stone, M. H., Sands, W. A., Carlock, J. O. N., Callan, S. A. M., Dickie, D. E. S., Daigle, K., ... & HARTMAN, M. (2004). The importance of Isometric Maximum Strength and Peak Rateof-Force Development in Sprint Cycling. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 18(4), 878-884.
- Thomas, C., Comfort, P., Chiang, C. Y., & Jones, P. A. (2015). Relationship Between Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Variables and Sprint and Change of Direction Performance in Collegiate Athletes. Journal of Trainology, 4(1), 6-10.
- Thomas, C., Comfort, P., Jones, P. A., & Dos'Santos, T. (2017). A Comparison of Isometric Midthigh-Pull Strength, Vertical Jump, Sprint Speed, and Change-of-Direction Speed in Academy Netball Players. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 12(7), 916-921.
- Townsend, J. R., Bender, D., Vantrease, W. C., Hudy, J., Huet, K., Williamson, C., ... & Mangine,
 G. T. (2019). Isometric Midthigh Pull Performance Is Associated with Athletic
 Performance and Sprinting Kinetics in Division I Men and Women's Basketball Players.
 The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 33(10), 2665-2673.
- Varley, M. C., & Aughey, R. J. (2013). Acceleration Profiles in Elite Australian Soccer. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 34(01), 34-39.

- Wang, R., Hoffman, J. R., Tanigawa, S., Miramonti, A. A., La Monica, M. B., Beyer, K. S., ... & Stout, J. R. (2016). Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull Correlates with Strength, Sprint, and Agility Performance in Collegiate Rugby Union Players. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 30(11), 3051-3056.
- Wells, J. E., Mitchell, A. C., Charalambous, L. H., & Fletcher, I. M. (2018). Relationships Between Highly Skilled Golfers' Clubhead Velocity and Force Producing Capabilities during Vertical Jumps and an Isometric Mid-Thigh Pull. Journal of Sports Sciences, 36(16), 1847-1851.
- Wollin, M., Thorborg, K., & Pizzari, T. (2018). Monitoring the Effect of Football Match Congestion on Hamstring Strength and Lower Limb Flexibility: Potential for Secondary Injury Prevention? Physical Therapy in Sport, 29, 14-18.
- Zakas, A. (2006). Bilateral Isokinetic Peak Torque of Quadriceps and Hamstring Muscles in Professional Soccer Players with Dominance on One or Both Two Sides. Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness, 46(1), 28-35.